8007-

Cory Jermaine Maye v. State of Mississippi No. 2007-KA-02147-COA

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Appellant:

۱

ł

i.,

Ι,

Cory J. Maye

The attorneys for Appellant are:

Robert E. Evans Attorney at Law P.O. Box 636 540 E. Broad Street Monticello, MS 39654

#### **INTRODUCTION**

"Officer in Mississippi town shot to death while serving drug warrants; suspect in custody." This was the headline of a December 27, 2001, Associated Press article. Prentiss Police Officer Ron Jones, the son of the local police chief, had been shot during a drug raid, a suspect named Cory Maye was in custody, and the District Attorney planned to charge him with capital murder.<sup>1</sup> Most readers would have assumed that Mr. Maye had acted with criminal intent, rather than in lawful defense of himself and his infant daughter. This assumption was the foundation on which the State built its case.

That foundation now lies in ruins. The trial revealed that Mr. Maye had no prior criminal record or arrest record, and no motive to knowingly fire upon a law enforcement officer. Multiple scene photos taken by the State's investigators confirm to a virtual certainty that Mr. Maye had no way to see the armed officers who converged on his home in a late-night raid on the day after Christmas. Trial testimony of police officers on the scene revealed that even certain of the officers did not hear or comprehend the alleged police announcements that the State insists alerted Mr. Maye to their presence. The State's post-trial briefing conceded it lacked a legitimate scientific foundation for expert testimony it used to sway the jury. The purported "expert" pathologist who provided this testimony has been publicly discredited, and Mississippi no longer employs him to perform autopsies in criminal cases. Newly discovered forensic evidence strongly corroborates the testimony that Mr. Maye offered in his own defense.

The rationale for deference to the trial court's venue rulings has disappeared in light of the judge's admission that he believed he lacked authority to grant Mr. Maye's request to withdraw an initial waiver and stand trial in the county of the alleged offense. Any basis for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Officer in Mississippi town shot to death while serving drug warrants; suspect in custody, Associated Press, (Prentiss, MS), Dec. 27, 2001.

confidence in the jury's verdict has vanished, because the trial court wrongly refused critical jury instructions concerning the scope of lawful self-defense and the allocation of the burden of proof. The "official capacity" element of the capital murder charge, characterized by the State at trial as undisputed, has been undermined through post-trial testimony establishing that the warrant for Mr. Maye's home was procured through fraud. One source of this testimony is the informant whom the State had previously claimed it could not identify or locate, and his testimony concerning the information he gave to Ron Jones directly contradicts the claims made by Jones in his warrant application.

The trial record confirms that the State improperly exploited the jury's respect for Jones' status as a police officer, perhaps to distract from the State's inability to prove that Mr. Maye was aware of that status at the moment of the shooting. To the extent the State did purport to address the "knowledge" element of the capital murder charge, it did so by mischaracterizing the evidence. The inexperience and inadequate preparation of Mr. Maye's trial counsel rendered her ineffective in coming to Mr. Maye's aid. Indeed, the trial judge himself declared her ineffective with respect to the sentencing phase, and accordingly vacated Mr. Maye's death sentence.

Cases like this are the reason appellate courts exist. Mr. Maye's conviction and sentence cannot stand. The jury's flawed verdict must be vacated, and the case remanded with instructions to either dismiss all charges, or to grant Mr. Maye a new trial, in the correct venue, using lawful procedures, before a properly instructed jury. Anything less would be unjust.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the evidence presented at trial was insufficient as a matter of law to sustain a conviction on the charged offenses.
- II. Whether a new trial must be granted because the jury's verdict was against the weight of the evidence.

III. Whether the testimony of the State's forensic pathologist was admitted in error.

- IV. Whether the circuit court erred in denying supplemental discovery of the credentials and practices of the State's expert witness.
- V. Whether newly discovered forensic evidence necessitates a new trial.
- VI. Whether the circuit court erroneously deprived the defendant of his right to be tried in Jefferson Davis County, as guaranteed by Article 3 § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.
- VII. Whether the circuit court erred in refusing defendant's requested jury instructions.
- VIII. Whether the State procured a search warrant through fraud, mandating a new trial.
- IX. Whether the circuit court should have granted a motion to suppress due to the lack of probable cause supporting the search warrant.
- X. Whether prosecutorial misconduct demands reversal of the conviction.
- XI. Whether the defendant received effective assistance of counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.
- XII. Whether the sentence constituted cruel or unusual punishment in violation of Article 3 § 28 of the Mississippi Constitution, or the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Cory Maye was arrested and held without bond following the December 2001 late-night law enforcement raid on his home that resulted in the shooting death of Prentiss Police Officer Ron Jones. R.39–40. The State charged Mr. Maye with capital murder. R.39. At Mr. Maye's request, the court moved the venue from Jefferson Davis County to Lamar County. R.90–94; R. 108–09. Several months before trial, Mr. Maye moved to return the trial to Jefferson Davis County. R.215–17. The court purported to grant his motion, but instead held the trial, on January 23, 2004, in Marion County. R.220; T.85. Four days later, the jury convicted Mr. Maye of capital murder, and sentenced him to death. R.402–03; T.629. The court later set aside this sentence and re-sentenced Mr. Maye to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. T.1071; R.1373–74. Mr. Maye timely appealed from the judgment of conviction and sentence imposed by the court and from its December 29, 2006 denial of his JNOV Motion. R.1451.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 26, 2001, Officer Jones, a junior officer with the Prentiss Police Department, sought and obtained search warrants for both homes of a duplex on Mary Street. R.73–74; R.144–46. Jamie Smith lived then in the northern home (or left-hand, as viewed from the front). He had been under investigation for several months for drug-related offenses. R.144– 46. Cory Maye lived in the other home (the southern, or right-hand one) with his girlfriend, and their 14-month old daughter, Ta'Corriana. He was 21 years old, a Mississippi resident with no prior criminal history, arrests, or outstanding warrants. T.482–85; T.496; T.486.

While Jones obtained his warrants, Mr. Maye took care of Ta'Corriana at home while his girlfriend worked. It was the day after Christmas, and the family's Christmas tree still stood in the corner of the living room. T.Exh. 32. A few hours later, a team of eight armed police officers had raided both homes, Jones was dead as the result of a single gunshot wound to the abdomen, and Mr. Maye was under arrest, soon to face charges of capital murder. T.487–91. Despite the tragedy of Jones' death, the available evidence shows that it was an accident— that Mr. Maye was simply trying to protect his child, his home, and himself from what he reasonably believed to be an unlawful and dangerous intruder.

## I. THE EVENTS OF DECEMBER 26–27, 2001

ŝ

ł

#### A. Search Warrants Are Procured and Executed

At approximately 8:30 p.m. on December 26, 2001, Jones called Prentiss Municipal Court Judge Donald Kruger, and said that he had a search warrant he wished to present. T.6, 15. Jones drove to Judge Kruger's home and showed him virtually identical statements of "Underlying Facts and Circumstances" for two warrants. T.17. Jones' statements claimed he had "received information from various sources that controlled substances are being stored in and sold from two apartments located on Mary St." R.979, 984. He also claimed that he had an

informant who had been inside both homes within the past 24 hours and had seen marijuana there, and that Jones had surveilled the homes and witnessed large amounts of traffic at unusual hours. R.979, 984. Following a brief conversation, Judge Kruger signed each of the two virtually identical warrants. T.4–5.

Jones had called officers from several jurisdictions to help him execute the warrants. T.245–46. Eight officers convened at the Prentiss Police Department for a briefing by Jones and a Pearl River Basin Narcotics Task Force agent, who had been investigating Smith. *Id.* The officers traveled in two cars to Mary Street, and approached the duplex on foot in two teams. *Id.* Three walked to each front door, and one officer on each team went to the rear. Unbeknownst to the officers, Mr. Maye lived in the right-hand home. He had fallen asleep in his living room while his daughter slept on the bed in the bedroom at the rear of the house. T.486.

Several officers testified at trial concerning the search warrants' execution. T.245; T.286; T.311; T.404. Darrell Cooley and Stephen Jones testified that they (along with Ron Jones) approached the front door of Mr. Maye's home. T.253; T.407–10. Neither Cooley nor Jones claimed to have knocked on Mr. Maye's front door. Instead, Cooley testified that he tried the door knob but found it locked, and then attempted a few seconds later to kick open the door. T.418. Cooley and Jones testified that each of Cooley's three attempts to break down Mr. Maye's front door was preceded by an announcement in which Cooley said "Police" and either Stephen or Ron Jones announced "search warrant." *Id.*; T.249–54. When these attempts proved unsuccessful, Stephen and Ron Jones proceeded immediately to the rear of the house, where T.C. Cooley and Allday were standing near the three steps that led to the rear door of Mr. Maye's home, which opened directly into the only bedroom. T.249–59.

Stephen Jones and T.C. Cooley testified concerning the events that took place at the rear of the house. T.250–55; T.290–93. Neither officer indicated that anyone ever knocked on the

rear door of Mr. Maye's home. *Id.* Instead, Stephen Jones testified that Ron Jones checked the door to see if it was open, but found that it was locked. T.251–52. According to Stephen Jones, after Ron Jones checked the back door, he announced "search warrant, police, search warrant." T.252. T.C. Cooley, who was standing near the bottom of the rear steps when Ron Jones checked the rear door, testified at trial that he did not hear Ron Jones make any such announcement. T.307:11–29.

Stephen Jones and Ron Jones left the rear of house to return to the front, but shortly after they turned the rear corner, Allday kicked open the rear door leading into the bedroom of Mr. Maye's home, breaking the lock and chain which held it closed. T.253. Ron Jones immediately ran back around the rear corner of the house, up the rear stairs, and into the darkened bedroom. He was no more than five feet into the room when three shots were fired. T.253–54. The officers present at the rear door testified that the first and only announcement made after the door had been kicked open was a partial one, which Ron Jones made as he ran into Mr. Maye's bedroom, a split second before he was shot.

After the shots were fired, Ron Jones turned and came down the stairs, saying that he had been hit. T.292–93. Stephen Jones assisted him while T.C. Cooley shined his light into the bedroom, and ordered the occupant (Mr. Maye) to throw down his gun. T.293. After seeing that Mr. Maye had slid his gun across the floor, Cooley, assisted by another officer, entered the room and placed Mr. Maye under arrest.<sup>2</sup> T.293–94. Two subsequent successive searches of Mr.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Mr. Maye was taken into custody and gave a statement. R.194–209. He told two Mississippi Bureau of Investigation agents that he was asleep in his living room when a loud crash at the front door roused him. In fear, he ran down the hallway to the bedroom, retrieved his handgun from the top of his bed's high headboard, loaded it and lay on the floor at the foot of his bed. Mr. Maye said that he heard the back door of his bedroom kicked in, and that seconds later he fired several shots toward the door as someone charged up the stairs and into the bedroom. Trial Exh. 23 (audio recording of Dec. 27, 2001 interview). One agent authenticated an audiotape of the interview at trial, testifying that Mr. Maye "was very forthcoming," and appeared honest. T.361:6–14.

Maye's apartment (conducted pursuant to the original warrant, and a post-shooting warrant)

recovered shell casings and a small amount (less than 1.2 grams) of marijuana. T.363-89;

T.318-23. Evidence introduced at trial showed that when Mr. Maye surrendered his gun by

sliding it across the floor, four rounds remained in the weapon. T.254; T.293; T.211; T.429.

After the shooting, Ron Jones was taken to the Prentiss Hospital, where he died from injuries

caused by a single gunshot wound to the lower left-hand side of his abdomen, directly below the

portion of his torso that was covered by his bulletproof vest. T.257; T.439-40.

## B. The Absence of Evidence to Support the State's Charges

The testimony and exhibits *introduced by the State* confirm that Mr. Maye had virtually

no opportunity, from the inside of his apartment, to see the police officers who were attempting

to gain entry in the late-night hours of December 26. With respect to the front entrance:

• Post-shooting scene photos and testimony of officers on the scene confirm that there were only two potential sight lines from the inside of the living room onto the front porch. Trial Exhs. 1, 5, 11, 12.

• One possible sight line was the living room window, but it was completely covered from the inside by a full set of blinds *and* a full-length opaque curtain that hung down between the blinds and the window. Trial Exh. 32.

• The other possible sight line was the window on the front door, but it too was completely covered from the inside by a set of dark red blinds that hung down over its full length. Trial Exh. 18.

With respect to the rear entrance:

• The rear exterior door that led directly into Mr. Maye's bedroom was solid wood. Trial Exhs. 4, 13, 15, 16.

• The only window in Mr. Maye's bedroom with a potential view of the back yard where the officers had taken up position was covered by a curtain as well as by the high headboard of the bed. Trial Exhs. 9, 13, 15; T.505:8–11.

• The bedroom window that faced the side yard was entirely covered with opaque foil that would have prevented anyone inside the bedroom from seeing out. Trial Exh. 17.

If Mr. Maye could not see the officers, he could have learned their identity only by hearing them announce themselves. The officers who testified regarding announcements at the front door were all situated outside of the house. T.248–50; T.405–09. Of course, testimony that late-night announcements were made outside Mr. Maye's home does not constitute proof that a person inside heard and comprehended them. Only one of the State's trial witnesses had been inside the duplex prior to the shooting. T.335: 5–23. Darryl Graves testified that as he approached Smith's home, he heard an officer on Mr. Maye's porch make an initial announcement. T.335:5–23. Graves testified unequivocally, however, that once he entered Smith's home, he no longer heard those officers' announcements. T.335:12–23; 342:13–343:17.

Testimony regarding announcements at the rear varied: Stephen Jones testified that Ron Jones said "search warrant, police, search warrant" near the rear steps that led into Mr. Maye's bedroom. T.253. T.C. Cooley, who was standing near Mr. Maye's rear steps throughout the entire raid, heard no such announcements, T.307:11–29, nor did Darrell Cooley, who had waited near the front porch when Stephen Jones and Ron Jones proceeded to the rear of the dwelling, T.409:19–29, 430:17–431:3. The only other evidence of verbal communication to the home's occupants was testimony concerning a partial statement made by Ron Jones at the moment he charged into Mr. Maye's darkened bedroom. T.292.

Considering the trial evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the only opportunity that Mr. Maye might have had to catch a glimpse of Jones would have been in the split second when Jones charged through the rear door and into the bedroom where Mr. Maye's infant daughter lay sleeping. While the State presented vague testimony from several witnesses concerning the clothing worn by unspecified officers, T.302; T.247–48, no witness testified specifically concerning Jones' clothing. The State's exhibits, however, did depict portions of

ŧ

Jones' dark clothing, including his jacket and vest, which had been removed after the shooting and left on the ground outside the house.<sup>3</sup> Trial Exh. 17.

## II. THE TRIAL TESTIMONY OF DR. STEVEN HAYNE

Dr. Steven Hayne, the coroner who performed an autopsy on Jones' body, testified as an expert witness for the State. R.448. Dr. Hayne's autopsy report (discussed during his direct testimony) found that Officer Jones died as a result of blood loss from a single gunshot wound to the lower left-hand portion of his abdomen. His report also recorded findings of the angle of the wound track through the soft tissue in Jones' abdomen. T.436:17–25. During cross-examination, Dr. Hayne acknowledged his ignorance of the variables relevant to determining Mr. Maye's position in relation to Jones at the moment of the shooting, including the distance between Jones and Mr. Maye when the shot was fired, the position and posture of Jones at the moment the bullet struck, and the elevation and angle of the gun barrel. T.441–47.

During redirect, in response to a series of leading questions, and despite Dr. Hayne's acknowleged ignorance of the pertinent variables, he opined upon the position and posture of Mr. Maye in relation to Officer Jones at the moment of the fatal shot. T.448–49. Mr. Maye's trial counsel objected repeatedly to this testimony. In the State's rebuttal argument, it brandished this testimony to discredit Mr. Maye, calling the testimony "a major thing," and arguing that it showed that Mr. Maye could not have fired from near the floor as he testified, but rather was "kneeling up or standing and trying to hit what he was aiming at." T.491–95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Jones' clothing was admitted into evidence during the two-day post-trial hearing in September 2006. T.841. Photographs of this clothing, displayed on a mannequin, were submitted with a post-trial proffer and are included in the appellate record. *See* Vol. II RE at 330–38. The photos speak for themselves: Jones' clothing on the night of the raid consisted of dark combat fatigues, a dark jacket with no police insignia visible from the front, and a bulletproof vest that contained no markings other than an oval "Extreme Armor" logo in the center of the vest. *Id*.

After trial, Mr. Maye moved to set aside the verdict, identifying the admission of Dr. Hayne's speculative and unreliable testimony as a fundamental error. R.708–18. Mr. Maye also provided evidence from a newly-retained expert in forensic pathology, who confirmed that Dr. Hayne's trajectory testimony had no reliable scientific basis. R.708–14; R.665–71. Post-trial proceedings also revealed that Dr. Hayne misled the jury when he testified that he was "board certified" in forensic pathology, and that his autopsy of Officer Jones "was in compliance with the attorney general's ruling of this state as well as the national standards for the performance of an autopsy." *See* T.432–35. Mr. Maye's November 2007 proffer of evidence revealed that Dr. Hayne had not been certified by the American Board of Pathology (the only organization whose certifications Mississippi recognizes),<sup>4</sup> and that, in testimony in other cases, he has described his practice in terms which constitute gross noncompliance with national professional standards.<sup>5</sup> In the wake of increased press scrutiny of Dr. Hayne, the State recently announced that it would no longer retain him to perform autopsies. *See* "State Moves to Block Doctor," *The Clarion-Ledger*, Aug. 5, 2008, at 1A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Dr. Hayne obtained his forensic "certification" from a mail-order organization that did not require a test and that was essentially a diploma mill. R.1377-78; 1419-20; 1426-35.

<sup>,</sup> 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Dr. Hayne has testified under oath to having performed approximately 1500 autopsies per year throughout most of his career in Mississippi. R.1379; 1426–35; 1437–42. Moreover, Dr. Hayne has stated under oath that during the same years in which he performed 1500 annual autopsies, he also testified in legal matters two to four times per week *and* spent approximately 50 to 55 hours a week working in a Mississippi hospital and an associated renal laboratory. R.1379; 1443–50.

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