IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CORY JERMINE MAYE

APPELLANT

VS.

•

NO. 2007-KA-2147-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State proved each element of the crime of capital murder beyond a reasonable doubt, and the jury's verdict is not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The only element of capital murder disputed at trial was whether Maye knew that the victim was a police officer. The State presented ample evidence to show that Maye both saw the uniformed officers and heard them announce themselves as police officers.

Maye is procedurally barred from assigning as error testimony which he elicited from Dr. Hayne. Additionally, Dr. Hayne did not testify about Maye's or Officer Jones' absolute positions at the time of the shooting as Maye claims on appeal. However, had Dr. Hayne believed that he had sufficient data to give such an opinion, case law would support the trial court accepting such an opinion. Maye's allegations that Dr. Hayne lied about his qualifications are simply not supported by the record.

Maye has not presented newly discovered evidence which would entitle him to a new trial. The bulk of Maye's alleged newly discovered evidence is best characterized as impeachment evidence, which is legally insufficient to warrant a new trial. Additionally none of the new evidence would have resulted in a different outcome had it been presented at trial.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Maye's second motion for a change of venue back to Jefferson Davis County. Maye had already proven to the trial court that he could not empanel an impartial jury in Jefferson Davis County. The trial court would have abused its discretion in granting Maye's request.

The trial court properly refused Maye's self-defense instructions as being fairly covered elsewhere. The two granted self-defense instructions properly defined self-defense and informed the jury of its duty to acquit if it found that Maye acted in self-defense.

4

Maye has failed to show that Officer Ron Jones procured the search warrant through a fraud. Additionally, the trial court properly denied Maye's motion to suppress. Officer Jones clearly had probable cause to believe that illegal activity was occurring in Maye's home.

The record does not support Maye's claim of prosecutorial misconduct. The prosecutor fairly summed up the evidence presented at trial. Furthermore, Maye failed to object to the alleged misconduct, and is procedurally barred from raising the issue for the first time on appeal.

Maye's ineffective assistance of counsel claim is without merit as he fails to show how the alleged deficiencies resulted in prejudice.

Maye is also barred from raising a disproportionality argument for the first time on appeal. Furthermore, Maye received the minimum sentence available for a conviction of capital murder.

5

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATE PRESENTED LEGALLY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE JURY'S VERDICT.

In determining whether the State proved each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, all evidence supporting the guilty verdict must be accepted as true. *Wash v. State*, 931 So.2d 672, 673 (¶5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Additionally, the State is given the benefit of all inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. *Id.*

The basis for Maye's first assignment of error is a claim that there was no evidence that he knew Officer Jones was a police officer prior to the shooting. First, Maye claims that an "absence of sight lines" prevented him from seeing the officers. He further asserts that none of the State's witnesses testified that he looked out of the front window. The following evidence presented at trial refutes Maye's claims. On direct examination, Officer Stephen Jones was asked if he saw any activity inside the house when the officers were attempting to gain access through the front door. T. 149. Officer Jones replied, "The blinds opened, it appeared that somebody opened the blinds and looked out." T. 249. Jones was then asked whether he saw a light on in Maye's apartment. Jones responded, "When the blinds were opened, I did notice a light inside." T. 250. Jones also testified on cross-examination that "there were no lights visible from inside the apartment until the blinds were opened." T. 262-63. Shortly thereafter, the following exchange occurred between defense counsel and Officer Jones.

- Q. And I don't want to belabor the point, but you said something about a light on towards the bathroom?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Were you able to see from the outside which room was the bathroom?

- A. I said in that area.
- Q. Well, how would you know from right here what area the bathroom would've been in?
- A. I did not know until I entered the apartment.
- Q. Okay. So this was after you entered the apartment.
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. Not before.
- A. When the blinds that were there that I remember seeing that night, I was standing to the right of the door, and I told the other officers there, I said, "There's a light inside to the left."
- Q. Okay. Where were you standing?
- A. I was standing to the right of the door, between the door or right there at the window on the of the door.
- Q. You were standing where? Here?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And what did you just say?
- A. When we were trying to gain access, I noticed a light in the rear, left rear.
- Q. How could you see inside if you're standing here at this wooden post?
- A. Through the window.
- Q. You looked in the window?
- A. When I was standing there --
- Q. Right here.
- A. -- when the blinds were cracked open, I noticed a light.
- Q. Are you telling the ladies and gentlemen of this jury that someone

stood up and opened the blinds so that you could see inside?

- A. I'm not saying that, I'm saying that the blinds were open.
- Q. So you stood here, looked inside this window without any blinds and you were able to see what?

. . . .

A. When we were trying to gain access, the blinds cracked open where I could see a light inside.

T. 265-67. Officer Darrell Cooley corroborated Officer Jones' testimony. Officer Cooley stated that while attempting to gain access through Maye's front door, "Stephen Jones said, 'There's a light,' and I looked back in towards the window on the door, and I could see a light back to the left side of the door." T. 408. Officer Cooley had not seen a light in the apartment before that time. T. 408. On cross-examination, Officer Cooley was asked if there was any indication that anyone was actually present inside Maye's apartment, to which Officer Cooley responded, "When the light come on." T. 423. The evidence also established that only Maye and his fourteen-month-old daughter, Ta'Corianna, were present in Maye's apartment, and that Ta'Corianna was asleep in the back bedroom while the officers attempted to gain entry. Based on the aforementioned facts in evidence, the jury could have reasonably inferred that Maye cracked the blinds and saw the uniformed officers as they beat on his door and announced their presence.

Maye also argues, "no witness testified that Mr. Maye could and did hear and comprehend the alleged announcement." Appellant's Brief at 23. However, pages earlier, in discussing whether Maye knew that the victim was a police officer, Maye concedes, "It is, of course, impossible for a jury to learn through direct evidence what Mr. Maye knew . . ." Appellant's Brief at 17. Of course, only Maye knows whether or not he actually heard the officers announce themselves, and, as could be expected, he testified that he did not. The State presented ample evidence, however, to show that

the officers announced themselves several times at the front and back door before ever entering Maye's apartment. They announced "police, search warrant" no less than three times at the front door, in addition to beating on the door. T. 34-35, 249, 253, 291, 297, 323, 407-408, 418. Not only did the officers executing the search warrant on Maye's apartment testify that they announced themselves as police officers, but also the officers executing the search warrant on Smith's apartment testified that they saw and heard the officers announcing themselves at Maye's door. T. 291, 297, 323. When no one answered, the officers approached the back door and Officer Ron Jones announced, "search warrant, police, search warrant," before Allday kicked the door in. T. 252. The victim also announced either "police, search warrant" or either just "police" upon entering the apartment. T. 253,409.

5

Mississippi Code Annotated §97-3-19(2)(b) requires that the defendant kill "with knowledge that the victim was a peace officer" in order to be guilty of capital murder. Whether the defendant knew that the victim was a peace officer can of course only be determined from an objective standpoint, unless the defendant admits that he knew the victim was an officer. In discussing this particular variety of capital murder, the supreme court has stated the following.

This statute reflects the [S]tate's special interest in protecting law enforcement officers. To bring a case within the statute, the evidence must reflect that the victim was a peace officer acting in the course of his official duties and that, at the time of the killing, the defendant knew <u>or should have known</u> of this fact.

Stevenson v. State, 733 So.2d 177, 186 (¶32) (Miss. 1998) (quoting Hansen v. State, 592 So.2d 114, 146 (Miss. 1991) (emphasis added)). Although Maye claims that he did not hear the officers' several announcements identifying them as police officers, Maye certainly should have known, based on substantial testimony, that the victim was a police officer. In addition to ample testimony regarding the officers' announcements at Maye's front and back door, the evidence also showed that similar

announcements were made outside of Smith's apartment, and the occupants of that apartment heard the announcement and opened the door. T. 314.¹ Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, it is clear that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Maye knew that the victim was in fact a police officer.

Maye claims that the case of Wheeler v. State, 536 So. 2d 1341 (Miss. 1988), necessitates a finding that the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Maye knew Officer Jones was a police officer. Wheeler is readily distinguishable from the case sub judice. In Wheeler, Officer Jackie Dole Sherrill arrived at Wheeler's home with an arrest warrant for child neglect. Id. at 1342. Officer Sherrill was dressed in civilian clothes, but her badge and service weapon were visible. Id. at 1344. Officer Sherrill went to the back of Wheeler's home, while three other officer, two of which were in police uniform, went to Wheeler's front door. Id at 1342. The three officers informed Wheeler that they had a warrant for his arrest, and Wheeler became hostile. Id. As the officers attempted to enter the home, a struggle ensued between Wheeler and the officers, and Wheeler fought one of the officer's for his gun. Id. After two random shots were fired, Officer Sherrill ran to the front of the house, where a third errant bullet struck and killed her. Id. In deciding whether the State presented legally sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of capital murder, the reviewing court opined that the issue turned on "whether or not Noah Wheeler saw Jackie Sherrill at the time he fired the fatal shot or, at anytime before, or had a sufficient sight of her to realize that she was a police officer." Id. at 1343. The Court ultimately determined that the evidence did not

¹Even Audrey Davis's affidavit, which contradicts several officers' sworn testimony, supports the fact that the officers knocked and announced at Maye's door. Davis claims that she heard the officers before they had a chance to knock and announce on Smith's door. This corroborates Officer Darryl Graves' testimony that Ron's team made it to Maye's door and began announcing seconds before Grave's team approached Smith's door. C.P. 1196; T. 323.

establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Wheeler ever saw Sherrill, much less recognized her as a police officer. Id. at 1344. In the case sub judice, there was ample evidence that someone cracked the blinds while the officers were at the front door. Unlike Officer Sherrill, Officer Ron Jones was in uniform, and was not separated from a group of known officers. In Wheeler, shots had already been fired before Officer Sherrill ever came into the vicinity in which Wheeler was firing. The supreme court's opinion also suggests that Wheeler was shooting indiscriminately, and that an errant bullet hit Officer Sherrill. The bullet that killed Officer Ron Jones was not an errant bullet fired during a struggle for a gun obtained from a separate group of officers. Instead, Maye testified that he armed himself and intentionally fired at the "intruder." Also, in Wheeler, the issue turned only on whether Wheeler saw Officer Sherrill. In the case *sub judice*, there was overwhelming testimony to support the fact that Maye heard the officers announcing themselves. Whereas the Wheeler majority found little evidence to support a finding that Wheeler knew he was shooting a police officer, when the State is given all reasonable inferences which may be drawn from the evidence in the case *sub judice*, it is clear that Maye knew that Officer Ron Jones was a police officer when he shot him to death.

Maye also claims that the so-called *Weathersby* rule requires that his conviction and sentence be reversed. In *Weathersby*, the Mississipi Supreme Court held as follows.

[W]here the defendant or the defendant's witnesses are the only eyewitnesses to the homicide, their version, if reasonable, must be accepted as true, unless substantially contradicted in material particulars by a credible witness or witnesses for the state, or by the physical facts or by the facts of common knowledge.

Weathersby v. State, 165 Miss. 207, 209, 147 So. 481, 482 (1933). First, and most obviously, *Weathersby* does not apply because Maye was not the only witness to the murder. Although Officers Stephen Jones and Darrell Cooley may not have actually seen Maye fire the fatal shot, whether Maye

fired the fatal shot is not the disputed element, as Maye acknowledged such at trial. The only disputed element of capital murder was and is whether Maye acted with knowledge that Officer Ron Jones was a police officer. Officers Stephen Jones and Darrell Cooley testified as eyewitnesses to the events leading up to the murder. The testimony of both officers establishes that Maye saw the uniformed officers through the blinds, and heard the several announcements identifying them as police officers. Even if this Court finds that the officers were not eyewitnesses to the murder, their testimony certainly contradicts Maye's testimony that the officers did not announce themselves. Accordingly, *Weathersby* is wholly inapplicable to the present case.

The Appellant optimistically argues that the evidence was also insufficient to support a charge of depraved heart murder or culpable negligence manslaughter. A legal sufficiency analysis requires this Court to determine whether the evidence was legally sufficient to support the jury's verdict. As argued in the preceding paragraphs, the evidence is legally sufficient to support the charge of capital murder. No argument was made either for or against instruction 7 during the jury instruction conference in the record, and the clerk's papers indicate that instruction 7 was offered by the court. C.P. 384. Neither depraved heart murder nor culpable negligence manslaughter was a theory advanced by either the State or defense. In any event, because the jury did not return a verdict for either depraved heart murder or culpable negligence manslaughter, the State will pretermit a legal sufficiency analysis as to these uncharged offenses.

Recognizing that weight and sufficiency are separate and distinguishable legal concepts, the State will address the appellant's weight of the evidence argument in the first issue simply to mirror the appellant's framing of the issues. Reviewing courts examine the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict in determining whether a verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (¶18) (Miss. 2005) (citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d

12

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